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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, of the Company consisting of Voyager Global Group 
Ltd (formerly Sprint Energy Limited) (referred to hereafter as ‘Voyager’ or the ‘Company’) for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
 

1. DIRECTORS 

The following persons were Directors of Voyager during the financial year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise 
stated: 
 

Directors Position Duration of Appointment 

Gary Roper  Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed 24 December 2013) 

Andrew Chapman  Non-Executive Director (Appointed 8 October 2012) 

Roderick Corps  Non-Executive Director (Appointed 24 December 2013) 

 
 

2. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Directors were in office for the entire year unless otherwise stated. 
 

Name: Gary Roper 

Title: Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed 24 December 2013) 

Qualifications: Nil 

Experience and expertise: Gary Roper has 39 years’ experience in mining and exploration commencing in the 
Department of Mines Western Australia. Later in the private sector he worked through all facets 
of field exploration, mining tenement maintenance and acquisition, management and the 
funding of exploration programmes. 
 
In 1987 he along with others acquired a project portfolio, raised seed capital and successfully 
listing AuDAX Resources NL on the Australian Securities Exchange. Gary continued as 
Managing Director and later as Chairman for many years as AuDAX conducted exploration 
and small mining operations throughout WA. During his years as a managing director and 
chairman, Gary gained invaluable experience with ASX and ASIC reporting requirements and 
all the obligations which go with the day to day operation a publicly listed company. 

Other directorships: Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: Nil 

Interests in options: Nil 
 
 

Name: Andrew Chapman 

Title: Non- Executive Director (Appointed 8 October 2012) 

Qualifications: Bachelor of Business, Diploma of Financial Planning, Graduate Diploma of Finance & 
Investment 

Experience and expertise: Mr Chapman holds a Bachelor of Business and Economics with a Graduate Diploma of Applied 
Finance and Investment. Andrew is currently the Managing Director of Merchant Funds 
Management Pty Ltd and the Portfolio Manager of the Merchant Opportunities Fund. 

Other directorships: Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: 1,468,758 

Interests in options: Nil 
 
 

Name: Roderick Corps 

Title: Non- Executive Director (Appointed 24 December 2013) 

Qualifications: Nil 

Experience and expertise: Rod is a highly experienced financial markets professional and Australian equities specialist 
who has performed trading and capital raising roles for some of the world's top investment 
banks. Rod is well connected within the investment fund community, particularly with funds 
investing in natural resources companies. He has also built an excellent network of contacts 
among Australia's established and fast growing mining, oil and gas companies from his 
involvement in the sector over many years.  

Other directorships: Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: Nil 

Interests in options: Nil 
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3. INFORMATION ON COMPANY SECRETARY 

Piers Lewis – B Comm, CA, AGIA (Appointed 17 December 2012) 
 
Piers Lewis joined the Company in December 2012. Mr Lewis is a Chartered Accountant with 15 years corporate experience, 
and has held executive and senior management positions throughout London and Australia. Mr Lewis also holds directorships, 
Company Secretary and CFO positions with other ASX-listed resource companies. 
 
 
4. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

At the General Meeting of Shareholders held during the year, Shareholders voted to change direction of the Company to a 
financial services company and approved the Voyager Global Choice transaction. On 18 May 2015 however the Company 
announced that its proposed acquisition of Voyager Global Choice Pty Ltd (“Voyager”) will not be proceeding. Following advice, 
including consideration of the protracted nature of the transaction and the current market conditions it was mutually agreed 
that the offer would not proceed. The Board are considering the future direction of the Company and are currently reviewing 
a number of opportunities in a variety of industry sectors. 
 
 
5. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Voyager Global Choice Transaction 

As announced to the market on 13 May 2014, the Company executed a conditional, binding terms sheet to acquire 100% of 
Sydney-based financial services company – Voyager. The transaction was approved by shareholders at the Company’s 
General Meeting of Shareholders held during the year. 
 
On 18 May 2015 the Company announced that its proposed acquisition of Voyager will not be proceeding. Following advice, 
including consideration of the protracted nature of the transaction and the current market conditions it was mutually agreed 
that the offer would not proceed. As a result, the offer was withdrawn and all subscription amounts were refunded. 
 
The Board are considering the future direction of the Company and are currently reviewing a number of opportunities in a 
variety of industry sectors. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION 

The financial results of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2015 are: 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 % Change

Cash and cash equivalents ($) 144,134 956,346 (85%)

Net assets ($) 94,056 814,272 (88%)

Revenue ($) 15,849 3,901,712 (100%)

Net (loss) / profit after tax ($) (720,216) 3,326,603 (122%)

(Loss) / profit per share (cents) (3.80) 57.43 (107%)  
 
 
7. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

On 8 October 2014, at the Company’s General Meeting, shareholders approved for the acquisition of 100% of the issued 
capital of Voyager, including the change of its name, a consolidation of its securities, approval to change the Company’s nature 
and scale to a financial services business and approval to issue the securities necessary for the Acquisition. 
 
On 17 October 2014 the Company completed a share and option consolidation on the basis of every eight (8) shares/options 
to be consolidated into one (1) share/option as approved by shareholders at the general meeting of shareholders held 8 
October 2014. 
 
On 22 October 2014 the Company lodged its prospectus to raise between $3m and $7m and to issue 62.3m shares for the 
acquisition of Voyager Global Choice.  
 
On 24 April 2015 the Company extended the closing date of its prospectus to 15 May 2015.  
 
On 18 May 2015 the Company announced that its proposed acquisition of Voyager will not be proceeding. Following advice, 
including consideration of the protracted nature of the transaction and the current market conditions it was mutually agreed 
that the offer would not proceed. As a result, the offer was withdrawn and all subscription amounts were refunded. 
 
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year. 
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8. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

On 14 September 2015 the Company advised that its registered address and principal place of business changed effectively 
immediately to Suite 6, 295 Rokeby Road, Subiaco WA 6008. 
 
No other matters or circumstance have arisen since 30 June 2015 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 
 
9. FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

The Board are considering the future direction of the Company and are currently reviewing a number of opportunities in a 
variety of industry sectors. 
 
 
10. ENVIROMENTAL REGULATION 

There have been no recorded incidents of non-compliance with any applicable international, national or local declarations, 
treaties, conventions or regulations associated with environmental issues during the reporting period. There have not been 
any known significant breaches of any environmental regulations during the year under review and up until the date of this 
report. The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which 
requires entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. The directors have assessed that there are no 
current reporting requirements. 
 
 
11. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2015, and the numbers 
of meetings attended by each Director were: 
 

Directors 

Number Eligible 
to Attend 

Number  
Attended 

Gary Roper  1 1 

Andrew Chapman  1 1 

Roderick Corps  1 1 

 
Due to the size and scale of the Company, there is no Remuneration and Nomination Committees or Audit Committee at 
present. Matters typically dealt with by these Committees are, for the time being, reverted to the Board. For details of the 
function of the Board please refer to the Corporate Governance Statement. 
 
 
12. REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements for the 
Company, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B. Details of remuneration 
C. Service agreements 
D. Share-based compensation 
E. Shareholdings and Option holdings 
 
 
A     Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The objective of the company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate 
for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives and the creation 
of value for shareholders, and conforms with the market best practice for delivery of reward. The Board of Directors ('the 
Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices: 

 competitiveness and reasonableness; 

 acceptability to shareholders; 

 alignment of executive compensation; and 

 transparency. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for 
its directors and executives ('program participants'). The performance of the company depends on the quality of its directors 
and executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel.                
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Alignment to shareholders' interests: 

 has economic profit as a core component of plan design; 

 focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, growth in share price, and delivering constant or increasing return on 
assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value; and 

 attracts and retains high calibre executives. 
 
Alignment to program participants' interest 

 rewards capability and experience; 

 reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth; and  

 provides a clear structure for earning rewards. 
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive directors and executive remunerations 
are separate. 
 
 
Non-executive directors’ remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors. Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.             
 
ASX listing rules requires that the aggregate non-executive director’s remuneration shall be determined periodically by a 
general meeting. The most recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 17 February 2012, where the 
shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $350,000.                   
 
 
Executive remuneration 
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration based on their position and responsibility, which 
is both fixed and variable. 
 
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:  

 base pay and non-monetary benefits;    

 share-based payments; 

 other remuneration such as superannuation; and 

 long service leave. 
 
The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 
 
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee, based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the Company and 
comparable market remunerations. 
 
Executives can receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle benefits) 
where it does not create any additional costs to the Company and adds additional value to the executive. 
 
The long-term incentives ('LTI') include long service leave and share-based payments. Options may be awarded to executives 
based on long-term incentive measures.   
 
Company performance and link to remuneration          
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders, directors and executives. The 
achievement of this aim has been through the issue of options to directors and executives to encourage the alignment of 
personal and shareholder interests. 
 
In previous financial years, Non-Executive directors, other key management personnel and other senior employees have been 
granted options over ordinary shares. The recipients of options are responsible for growing the Company and increasing 
shareholder value. The options provide an incentive to the recipients to remain with the Company and to continue to work to 
enhance the Company's value.               
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B     Details of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the directors, other key management personnel (defined as those who have the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the company) and specified executives of Voyager 
are set out in the following tables. 
 

Post-

employment 

benefits

Share-

based 

payments

Salary 

& fees

Cash 

bonus

Non-

monetary Other 

Super-

annuation

Options & 

rights Total

30-Jun-15 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

G Roper     36,000        -                -                 -                      -                -       36,000 -

A Chapman     36,000        -                -                 -                      -                -       36,000 -

R Corps 
(1)     23,942        -                -         12,058               3,420              -       39,420 -

Sub-total     95,942        -                -         12,058               3,420              -     111,420 

Other Key Management 

None            -   - - - - -            -   -

Sub-total            -          -                -                 -                      -                -              -   

Total     95,942        -                -         12,058               3,420              -     111,420 

Percentage of 

remuneration 

consisting of 

options for the 

year                         

%

Short-term employee benefits

 

Post-

employment 

benefits

Share-

based 

payments

Salary 

& fees

Cash 

bonus

Non-

monetary Other 

Super-

annuation

Options & 

rights Total

30-Jun-14 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

G Roper     18,000        -                -                 -                      -                -       18,000 -

A Chapman     23,549        -                -                 -                 5,734       24,290     53,573 -

R Corps 
(1)     12,772        -                -           6,357               1,769              -       20,898 -

J Knapp     33,000        -                -                 -                      -                -       33,000 -

M Kogos       5,000        -                -                 -                      -                -         5,000 -

S Flynn            -          -                -                 -                      -                -              -   -

A Edwards       5,000        -                -                 -                      -                -         5,000 -

K Chad     15,000        -                -                 -                      -                -       15,000 -

J Thompson       8,548        -                -                 -                 5,734              -       14,282 -

Dr J Poll       5,733        -                -                 -                      -                -         5,733 -

Sub-total   126,602        -                -           6,357             13,237       24,290   170,486 

Other Key Management 

None            -   - - - - -            -   -

Sub-total            -          -                -                 -                      -                -              -   

Total   126,602        -                -           6,357             13,237       24,290   170,486 

Percentage of 

remuneration 

consisting of 

options for the 

year                         

%

Short-term employee benefits

 

(1) During the 2014 financial year the Company purchased a motor vehicle for Rod Corps (Non-Executive Director) worth 
$52,485 which has been leased over four years. Mr Corps is currently receiving his monthly Non-Executive Director fee, 
less the monthly lease repayment for the motor vehicle. For further detail refer Note 12 Borrowings.  

 

 

 
 
C     Service agreements 

The employment arrangements of the Directors and key management personnel are not formalised in contracts of 
employment. 
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D     Share-based compensation 

Issue of shares 
There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Issue of options 
There were no options issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 
 
 
 
E     Shareholdings and Option holdings 

Shareholding 
The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
 

30-Jun-15

Directors

Opening 

Balance

Share 

Consolidation

Received as 

Remuneration

Exercise 

of Options Additions

Disposals / 

other

Closing

 Balance

G Roper - - - - - - -

A Chapman 8,416,706 (10,281,281) - - 3,333,333 - 1,468,758

R Corps - - - - - - -

Total 8,416,706 (10,281,281) - - 3,333,333 - 1,468,758  
 
 

30-Jun-14

Directors

Opening 

Balance

Share 

Consolidation

Received as 

Remuneration

Exercise 

of Options Additions

Disposals / 

other

Closing

 Balance

G Roper - - - - - - -

A Chapman 60,541,408 (59,330,580) - - 7,205,878 - 8,416,706

R Corps - - - - - - -

J Knapp 
1 - - - - - - -

M Kogos 
1 - - - - - - -

S Flynn 
1 - - - - - - -

A Edwards 
1 - - - - - - -

K Chad 
1 - - - - - - -

J Thompson 
1 34,935,835 - - - - (34,935,835) -

Dr J Poll 
1 - - - - - - -

Total 95,477,243 (59,330,580) - - 7,205,878 (34,935,835) 8,416,706  
 

1 Director resigned during the 2014 financial year. 
 

 

Option holding 

No Key management personnel held options during the 2015 and 2014 financial year. 
 
 
This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
 
 
 
13. SHARES UNDER OPTION 

There were no unissued ordinary shares of Voyager under option at the date of this report. 
 
 
14. SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 

There were no shares of Voyager issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2015 and up to the date of 
this report.  
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15. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
 
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure 
of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium. 
 
 
16. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 

of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
17. DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the end of the previous financial year to the date of this report. 
 
 
18. NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year by the Company’s auditor. 
 
 
19. OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY WHO ARE FORMER AUDIT PARTNERS OF REGENCY AUDIT PTY LTD 

There are no officers of the company who are former audit partners of Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) Pty Ltd. 
 
 
20. AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on 

the following page. 
 
 
21. AUDITOR 

Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 
 

 
_____________________ 
Andrew Chapman 
Non-Executive Director 
25 September 2015 
Perth 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To The Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

 

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements of Voyager Global Group 

Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that to the best of my 

knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

 

 the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 

the audit; and 

 

 any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

  
BENTLEYS MARK DELAURENTIS CA 

Chartered Accountants Director 

 

 

Dated at Perth this 25
th

 day of September 2015 
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30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Revenue from continuing operations 5 15,849 9,529

Other income 5 - 3,892,183

Expenses

Administration, consulting and other expenses (617,821) (495,041)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 11 (8,601) (6,093)

Directors fees and benefits expenses (111,420) (120,537)

Finance costs 6 1,562 37,189

Foreign exchange gain 215 -

Reversal of impairment of receivables - 10,528

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (1,155)

(Loss) / Profit before income tax expense (720,216) 3,326,603

Income tax expense 7 - -

(Loss) / Profit for the year from continuing operations (720,216) 3,326,603

Other comprehensive loss

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Reclassification of foreign currency reserve on discontinued operation - (85,264)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss                                 - -

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax - (85,264)

Total comprehensive (loss) / Income for the year attributable to the owners 

of Voyager Global Group Limited (720,216) 3,241,339

Cents Cents

(Loss) / Profit per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 

Voyager Global Group Limited:

Basic/diluted (loss) / profit per share from continuing operations 21 (3.80) 57.43

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 144,134 956,346

Trade and other receivables 9 69,845 89,516

Total Current Assets 213,979 1,045,862

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 44,553 53,154

Total Non-Current Assets 44,553 53,154

TOTAL ASSETS 258,532 1,099,016

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 123,707 234,311

Borrowings 12 9,664 9,664

Total Current Liabilities 133,371 243,975

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 12 31,105 40,769

Total Non-Current Liabilities 31,105 40,769

TOTAL LIABILITIES 164,476 284,744

NET ASSETS 94,056 814,272

EQUITY

Contributed equity 13 72,127,554 72,127,554

Reserves 14 - 148,000

Accumulated losses (72,033,498) (71,461,282)

TOTAL EQUITY 94,056 814,272  
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Contributed 

Equity Reserves

Accumulated 

Losses

Total 

Equity

$ $ $ $

At 1 July 2013 69,065,616  444,936       (74,902,621)   (5,392,069)   

Comprehensive income:

Income / (Loss) after income tax expense for the year -               -               3,326,603      3,326,603    

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax -               -               (85,264)          (85,264)        

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year -               -               3,241,339      3,241,339    

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Securities issued during the year 3,075,628    -               -                 3,075,628    

Capital raising costs (13,690)        -               -                 (13,690)        

Embedded derivatives cleared on conversion of convertible notes -               (102,656)      -                 (102,656)      

Embedded derivatives recognised during the year -               5,720           -                 5,720           

Lapse of options -               (200,000)      200,000         -               

At 30 June 2014 72,127,554  148,000       (71,461,282)   814,272       

Contributed 

Equity Reserves

Accumulated 

Losses

Total 

Equity

$ $ $ $

At 1 July 2014 72,127,554  148,000       (71,461,282)   814,272       

Comprehensive income:

Loss after income tax for the year -               -               (720,216)        (720,216)      

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -               -               -                 -               

Total comprehensive loss for the year -               -               (720,216)        (720,216)      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Lapse of options -               (148,000)      148,000         -               

At 30 June 2015 72,127,554  -               (72,033,498)   94,056         

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Cash flows used in operating activities

Receipts from customers 3,551              -                 

Payment to suppliers and employees (721,456)        (617,196)        

Interest received 3,851              2,802             

Interest and other finance costs paid (97,650)          -                 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 8(b) (811,704) (614,394)

Cash flows used in investing activities

Payment for property, plant and equipment (12,506) (4,168)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (12,506) (4,168)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares -                 1,496,600

Share issue transaction costs -                 (13,690)

Proceeds from employee contribution on lease 11,998            5,642

Net cash flows from financing activities 11,998            1,488,552

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (812,212) 869,990

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 956,346          86,356

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8(a) 144,134          956,346  
 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 

The financial report covers Voyager Global Group Ltd (formerly Sprint Energy Limited) as a Company. Voyager Global Group 

Ltd is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office and principal 
place of business are disclosed in the Corporate Directory of the annual report. 
 
The financial statements of the Company are for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. 
 

The nature of operations and principal activities of the Company are described in the Director’s Report. 
 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of Compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, including Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report of Voyager Global Group Ltd complies with all 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB') in their 
entirety. 
 

The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 25 September 2015. 
 

(b) Statement of Measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Cost is based on the fair values of consideration 
given in exchange for assets.  
 
(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.  
 
(d) Going Concern 

This report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and 
the realisation of assets and liabilities in the normal course of business.  
 
The Company has incurred a net loss for the year ended 30 June 2015 of $720,216 (2014: Profit $3,326,603) and experienced 
net cash outflows from operating activities of $811,704 (2014: $614,394).  
 

The directors have an appropriate plan in place to raise additional funds via an equity raising during the relevant period and 
have the ability to contain certain operating expenses to coincide with the future equity raising and as such have prepared a 
cash flow forecast, which indicates that the Company will have sufficient cash flows to meet all commitments and working 
capital requirements for the 12 month period from the date of signing this financial report. Based on the cash flow forecast and 
the company’s ability to raise additional capital as required, the directors are satisfied that the going concern basis of 
preparation is appropriate. 
 
Should the Company not achieve the matters set out above, there is material uncertainty whether the Company will continue 
as a going concern and therefore whether it will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business 
and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 
 
The financial report does not contain any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets or to 
the amounts or classification of recorded assets or liabilities that might be necessary should the Company not be able to 
continue as going concern. 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Operating segments 

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

 

(b) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 

Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 

Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
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(c) Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

●  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

●  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity's which intend to settle simultaneously. 
 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
(e) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off 
by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be 
impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
 
(f) Investments and other financial assets 

Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. 
Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to other categories is 
restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. For unlisted investments, the Company 
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to 
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models. 
 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either: i) held for trading, where they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit; or ii) designated as such upon initial recognition, where they are 
managed on a fair value basis or to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mis-match. Except for effective hedging 
instruments, derivatives are also categorised as fair value through profit or loss. Fair value movements are recognised in profit 
or loss. 
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Impairment of financial assets 

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; a breach 
of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower concessions due to economic or 
legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset; or observable data indicating that there 
is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows.  
 

The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal cannot exceed the amortised cost that would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised and is reversed to profit or loss. 
 
The amount of the impairment allowance for financial assets carried at cost is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for similar financial 
assets. 
 
(g) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and equipment (excluding land) 
over their expected useful lives as follows: 
 Plant and equipment: 3-7 years 

 Motor Vehicle: 8 Years 
 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the Company. 
Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus 
reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 
 
(h) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision 
resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 
(j) Employee benefits 

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services up to the 
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Non-accumulating sick 
leave is expensed to profit or loss when incurred. 
 
Share-based payments 

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 
 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash 
is determined by reference to the share price. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is determined using either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact 
of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and 
the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the 
Company receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting 
conditions. 
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The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods. 
 
The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award was 
granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 
 
●  during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by the 

expired portion of the vesting period. 

●  from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 
reporting date. 

 
All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to 
settle the liability. 
 
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied. 
 
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 
 
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Company or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as 
a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Company or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting 
period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 
 
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification. 
 
(k) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
 
(l) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Voyager, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(m) Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial 
position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
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(n) Application of new and revised Accounting Standards  

New and revised AASB’s affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the financial statements 

The company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 
  
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial 
performance or position of the company. 
 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the company: 
  
AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
The company has applied AASB 2012-3 from 1 July 2014. The amendments add application guidance to address 
inconsistencies in the application of the offsetting criteria in AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Presentation', by clarifying the 
meaning of 'currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off'; and clarifies that some gross settlement systems may be 
considered to be equivalent to net settlement. 
 
AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
The company has applied AASB 2013-3 from 1 July 2014. The disclosure requirements of AASB 136 'Impairment of Assets' 
have been enhanced to require additional information about the fair value measurement when the recoverable amount of 
impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposals. Additionally, if measured using a present value technique, the 
discount rate is required to be disclosed. 
 
AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (Parts A to C) 
The company has applied Parts A to C of AASB 2014-1 from 1 July 2014. These amendments affect the following standards: 
AASB 2 'Share-based Payment': clarifies the definition of 'vesting condition' by separately defining a 'performance condition' 
and a 'service condition' and amends the definition of 'market condition'; AASB 3 'Business Combinations': clarifies that 
contingent consideration in a business combination is subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is within the scope of AASB 9; AASB 8 
'Operating Segments': amended to require disclosures of judgements made in applying the aggregation criteria and clarifies 
that a reconciliation of the total reportable segment assets to the entity's assets is required only if segment assets are reported 
regularly to the chief operating decision maker; AASB 13 'Fair Value Measurement': clarifies that the portfolio exemption 
applies to the valuation of contracts within the scope of AASB 9 and AASB 139; AASB 116 'Property, Plant and Equipment' 
and AASB 138 'Intangible Assets': clarifies that on revaluation, restatement of accumulated depreciation will not necessarily 
be in the same proportion to the change in the gross carrying value of the asset; AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures': 
extends the definition of 'related party' to include a management entity that provides KMP services to the entity or its parent 
and requires disclosure of the fees paid to the management entity; AASB 140 'Investment Property': clarifies that the acquisition 
of an investment property may constitute a business combination. 
 
Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not 
yet effective. 
 
The Company does not anticipate that there will be a material effect on the financial statements from the adoption of these 
standards. 
 

 
  

Standard/Interpretation 

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or 

after 

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 

ending 

   

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending standards 1 January 2018 30 June 2019 
   

AASB 15 ‘ Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 1 January 2017 30 June 2018 
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(o) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation 
to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the 
related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and 
assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
 

Provision for impairment of receivables 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of provision 
is assessed by taking into account the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge of the individual 
debtors financial position. 

 

 
 

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 

Identification of reportable operating segments 

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about the components of the Company 
that are regularly reviewed by the chief decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its 
performance. The Board have been deemed to be the chief decision makers. 
 

For the current financial year, the Company operated as one business segment. 

 

 

 
5. REVENUE 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

Revenue from continuing operations $ $

Other revenue

Interest income 3,851             2,802             

Employee contribution - Lease 11,998           5,642             

Other revenue -                 1,085             

Total Revenue 15,849           9,529             

Other Income

Gain on debt forgiveness on convertible notes 12 -                 925,000         

Gain on reversal of related party payables -                 208,842         

Gain on disposal of subsidiary 8(d) -                 2,758,341      

Total Other Income -                 3,892,183      
 

 
 
 
6. EXPENSES 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Finance costs

Interest on convertible notes paid / payable 2,016             (93,248)          

Reversal of interest on convertible note as a result of conversion (454)               131,606         

Finance charges - Lease -                 (1,169)            

1,562             37,189           Total Finance Costs
 

 
 
  



VOYAGER GLOBAL GROUP LTD (FORMERLY SPRINT ENERGY LIMITED) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

22 

 

 
7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

(Loss) / profit before income tax expense (720,216)        3,326,603      

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% (216,065)        997,981         

Add tax effect of:

Non-deductible expenses 67,634           (1,167,169)     

Current year tax losses not recognised 156,089         162,967         

Current year temporary differences not recognised (7,658)            6,221             

Income tax expense / (benefit) -                 -                 

Components of deferred tax

Unrecognised deferred tax asset - losses 2,606,388      2,450,410      

Unrecognised deferred tax asset - provisions and accruals 29,965           20,593           

Unrecognised deferred tax asset - capital raising costs 33,977           17,102           

Total unrecognised deferred tax asset 2,670,330      2,488,105       
 

There are no franking credits available to the Company. 
 

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable within the immediate future that tax profits will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 
 

The benefit of the tax losses will only be obtained if the Company comply with conditions imposed by the tax legislation in 
Australia. 
 
 
 
8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 144,134         956,346         

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 144,134         956,346         

144,134         956,346         

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled 

to items in the statement of financial position as follows:

 
 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 
The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 16. 
 
The effective interest rate for the 30 June 2015 year was 1.00% (2014: 1.00%). 
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30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Net (loss) / profit after income tax (720,216)        3,326,603      

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 8,601             6,093

Gain on debt forgiveness -                 (1,133,842)     

Gain on disposal of subsidiary (refer Note 9(d)) -                 (2,758,341)     

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment -                 1,155             

Reclassification of foreign currency reserve on discontinued operation -                 (85,264)          

Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 19,671           (7,854)            

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables (119,760)        37,056           

Net cash flows used in operating activities (811,704)        (614,394)        

(b) Reconciliation of net (loss) / profit after income tax to net cash flows used in operating activities

 
 
 
 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Conversion of convertible notes 12 -                 1,488,838      

Shares issued in lieu of services -                 106,790         

-                 1,595,628      

(c) Non-cash investing and financing activities

 
 
 
 

At 30 June 2014 the Company disposed of its subsidiary, Modena Operating LLC.

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Assets and liabilities held at deconsolidation date

Trade and other payables -                 504,741         

Borrowings -                 2,253,600      

Net gain on disposal 5 -                 2,758,341      

(d) Disposal of subsidiary
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Trade receivables (i) -                 3,551             

Other receivables (i) -                 30,695           

GST and other tax recoverable 8,771             44,298           

Prepayments 61,074           10,972           

69,845           89,516            
 

(i) Trade and other receivables 
- Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable within 30 days. 

- Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

 
Past due but not impaired 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to nil as at 30 June 2015 
($3,551 as at 30 June 2014). 

 
The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows: 

 
30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

60-90 days -                 -                 

120+ days -                 3,551             

-                 3,551              
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Company considers any changes in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The directors believe that there is no 
further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for impairment. 

 
 

(ii) Risk exposure 
- Information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency and interest rate risk in relation to trade and 

other receivables is provided in Note 16. 
- The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivable mentioned 

above. 
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Computer

Equipment

Motor

Vehicle Total

$ $ $

Year Ended 30 June 2015

Opening net book amount 7,907             45,247           53,154           

Additions -                 -                 -                 

Depreciation expense (2,636)            (5,965)            (8,601)            

Closing net book amount 5,271             39,282           44,553           

At 30 June 2015

Cost 13,178           47,714           60,892           

Accumulated depreciation (7,907)            (8,432)            (16,339)          

Net book amount 5,271             39,282           44,553           
 

 
 
 

Computer

Equipment

Motor

Vehicle Total

$ $ $

Year Ended 30 June 2014

Opening net book amount 12,687           -                 12,687           

Additions -                 47,714           47,714           

Written off (1,154)            -                 (1,154)            

Depreciation expense (3,626)            (2,467)            (6,093)            

Closing net book amount 7,907             45,247           53,154           

At 30 June 2014

Cost 13,178           47,714           60,892           

Accumulated depreciation (5,271)            (2,467)            (7,738)            

Net book amount 7,907             45,247           53,154            
 
 
 
11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Interest payable on convertible notes 1,638             100,790         

Trade and other payables 122,069         133,521         

123,707         234,311          
 

Refer to note 16 for further information on financial instruments. 

  



VOYAGER GLOBAL GROUP LTD (FORMERLY SPRINT ENERGY LIMITED) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

26 

 

 
12. BORROWINGS 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Current

Convertible notes payables (i) -                 -                 

Lease liability (ii) 9,664             9,664             

9,664             9,664             

Non-Current

Convertible notes payables (i) -                 -                 

Lease liability (ii) 31,105           40,769           

31,105           40,769            
 

(i) Convertible Notes Payable: During the 2014 financial year, all outstanding convertible notes either converted to equity or 
were forgiven, leaving a nil balance at 30 June 2014. The outstanding interest on the convertible notes at 30 June 2015 
was $1,638, which has been accrued for the purpose of this report, refer Note 11. 

 
 

Movement in Convertible Notes:

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Convertible Note - September / November 2012

Opening balance -                 945,925         

Value of embedded derivative -                 54,075           

Conversion into equity 13 -                 (125,000)        

Loan forgiveness 5 -                 (875,000)        

-                 -                 

Convertible Note - May 2013

Opening balance -                 1,191,702      

Value of embedded derivative -                 42,862           

Conversion into equity 13 -                 (1,234,564)     

-                 -                 

Convertible Note - August 2013

Opening balance -                 -                 

Draw down amount -                 79,274           

Conversion into equity 13 -                 (79,274)          

-                 -                 

Convertible Note - October / November 2013

Opening balance -                 -                 

Draw down amount -                 100,000         

Conversion into equity 13 -                 (50,000)          

Loan forgiveness 5 -                 (50,000)          

-                 -                  
 

(ii) Lease Liability: During the 2014 financial year the Company purchased a motor vehicle for Rod Corps (Non-Executive 
Director) worth $52,485 which has been leased over four years. Mr Corps is currently receiving his monthly Non-Executive 
Director fee, less the monthly lease repayment for the motor vehicle.   
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13. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

$ No. $ No.

Fully paid ordinary shares 72,127,554    18,966,865    72,127,554      151,733,359  

Movement in ordinary shares $ No. Issue price 

Balance at 30 June 2013 69,065,616    921,540,359    

Share issue 1-Dec-13 110,400         5,520,000        $0.02

Issue on conversion of convertible note 13-Dec-13 1,313,838      367,974,816    $0.00357

Consultants payment 13-Dec-13 62,500           3,125,000        $0.02

Share consolidation 9-Apr-14 -                 (1,272,202,074) -                 

Placement of shares 23-Apr-14 1,230,000      98,400,000      $0.0125

Issue of shares in lieu of fees 23-Apr-14 20,000           1,600,000        $0.0125

Placement of shares 23-Apr-14 139,600         11,168,000      $0.0125

Issue on conversion of convertible note 23-Apr-14 125,000         10,000,000      $0.0125

Issue on conversion of related convertible note 23-Apr-14 50,000           4,000,000        $0.0125

Issue of shares in lieu of fees 23-Apr-14 24,290           607,258           $0.04

Cost of capital raising (13,690) -                   -                 

Balance at 30 June 2014 72,127,554    151,733,359    

Movement in ordinary shares $ No. Issue price 

Balance at 30 June 2014 72,127,554    151,733,359    

Share consolidation 17/10/2014 -                 (132,766,494) -                 

Cost of capital raising -                 -                   -                 

Balance at 30 June 2015 72,127,554    18,966,865      

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value. 
 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. 
 
Share buy-back 
There is no current on-market share buy-back. 
 
Capital risk management 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new financing or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Capital Risk Management

Cash and cash equivalents 144,134           956,346         

Less: Total liabilities (164,476) (284,744)

Net cash and cash equivalents (deficiency) / asset (20,342) 671,602
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14. RESERVES  

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Share-based payments reserve -                             148,000 

-                             148,000 

 
 

Convertible 

notes

Options and 

share-based 

payments Total

$ $ $

Movement in Reserve

Balance at 30 June 2013             96,936            348,000           444,936 

Embedded derivatives recognised during the year               5,720                      -   5,720             

Embedded derivative cleared on conversion of convertible note (102,656)                      -   (102,656)

Lapse of options                    -   (200,000) (200,000)

Balance at 30 June 2014                    -              148,000           148,000 

Movement in Reserve

Balance at 30 June 2014                    -              148,000           148,000 

Lapse of options (148,000) (148,000)

Balance at 30 June 2015                    -                        -                      -   

 
Options reserve 

The reserve is used to recognise amounts received in relation to listed options in the period before they expire or are exercised. 
 
Share-based payments reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their remuneration, 
and other parties as part of their compensation for services. 
 
 
 
15. DIVIDENDS 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
 
 
 
16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Financial risk management objectives 

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Company's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The Company uses different methods to 
measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rates, 
ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk 
exposure of the Company and appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits.  
 
Interest rate risk  
The Company’s exposure to risks of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s cash balances. The 
Company constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of 
existing positions, alternative financing positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. As the Company has no 
variable rate interest bearing borrowings its exposure to interest rate movements is limited to the amount of interest income it 
can potentially earn on surplus cash deposits. The Company does not account for any fixed rate instruments at fair value. 
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Refer below for sensitivity analysis:

Basis points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

Basis 

points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

30-Jun-15

Cash and cash equivalents 100              1,441         1,441         100            (1,441)        (1,441)        

30-Jun-14

Cash and cash equivalents 100              9,563         9,563         100            (9,563)        (9,563)        

Basis points increase Basis points decrease

 
 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Company. The company has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and 
setting appropriate credit limits. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is 
the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position 
and notes to the financial statements. The Company does not hold any collateral. 
 
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company does not have a significant exposure 
to bad debts.  
 
 

Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Company to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) 
and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing and capital raising 
facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. 
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Company's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

1 year 

or less

Between 1 

and 2 years

Between 2 

and 5 years

Over 5 

years

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities

30-Jun-15 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables -               123,707     -             -             -             123,707     

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Borrowings 17.48           9,664         9,663         21,442       -             40,769       

Total non-derivatives 133,371     9,663         21,442       -             164,476      

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

1 year 

or less

Between 1 

and 2 years

Between 2 

and 5 years

Over 5 

years

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities

30-Jun-14 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables -               234,311     -             -             -             234,311     

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Borrowings 17.48           9,664         9,663         31,106       -             50,433       

Total non-derivatives 243,975     9,663         31,106       -             284,744      
 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above. 
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Fair value of financial instruments  
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of 
financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market interest rate that is 
available for similar financial instruments. 
 
 
 
17. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) 
Pty Ltd, the auditor of the company, and unrelated firms: 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Amounts received or due and receivable by Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) Pty Ltd 

for:(i)  An audit or review of the financial report of the entity 20,000         20,500         

(ii) Other services in relation to the entity 12,000         -               

(iii) Tax services -               -               

Total auditor remuneration 32,000         20,500         

 
 
The fees paid for an audit or review of the financial report of the entity in the 2014 financial year relates to amounts paid to 
Regency Audit Pty Ltd, the Company’s previous auditor. 
 
 
 
18. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 30 June 2015. 
 
 
 
19. COMMITMENTS 

Leasing Commitments 
Committed at the reporting date and recognised as borrowings in the Statement of Financial Position: 
 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Within one year 9,664           9,664           

After one year but not more than five years 31,105         40,769         

More than five years -               -               

Total minimum commitment 40,769         50,433         

 
 
There were no other commitments for expenditure at 30 June 2015 or 30 June 2014. 
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Company is set 
out below: 
 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Compensation by category

Short-term employee benefits 108,000         132,959         

Post-employment benefits 3,420             13,237           

Share-based payments -                 24,290           

111,420         170,486         

 
 

Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the remuneration report in the directors' report. 
 
 
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

$ $

Current payables:

Directors fee payable to Gary Roper 3,300           3,300           

Directors fee payable to Andrew Chapman 3,000           -               

Directors fee payable to Roderick Corps 6,691           3,563           

Directors fee payable to Mark Kogos -               5,000           

Directors fee payable to Adrian Edwards -               5,000           

Directors fee payable to Jaap Poll -               25,417         

Directors fee payable to Craig Martin -               3,539           

 
 
Loans to/from related parties 

There are no loans to or from the Company outstanding at the reporting date in relation to loans with related parties for 2015 
or 2014. 
 
Terms and conditions 

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
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21. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

Net (loss) / profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders

of the Company ($) (720,216) 3,326,603

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings

per share (No.)      18,966,865        5,792,309 

- Basic (loss) / profit per share from continuing operations (cents) (3.80) 57.43

 
 
Options have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are not dilutive. 
 
 
 
22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

On 14 September 2015 the Company advised that its registered address and principal place of business changed effectively 
immediately to Suite 6, 295 Rokeby Road, Subiaco WA 6008. 
 
No other matters or circumstance have arisen since 30 June 2015 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 
 
 
23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

No option based payments were made in the 2015 and 2014 financial year. 
 
Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year: 

Expiry 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14

Date Number Number

27-Feb-12 31-Mar-15 -               1,200,000

-               1,200,000

Date 

Options 

Total Exercisable  

Grant

Date

Expiry

Date

Number of 

Options

Shares Price 

at grant date

Exercise 

Price

Expected 

Volatility

Dividend

 Yield

Risk-Free 

Interest Rate

Fair Value at 

Grant Date

27/02/2012 31/03/2015 100,000       $0.02 $2 119.79% - 4.03% $0.016

27/02/2012 31/03/2015 1,100,000    $0.02 $3 119.79% - 4.03% $0.014

 
These options vested at the grant date. 
 
 
Liabilities settled through the issue of shares: 

$ per share No of shares Total $

$0.02 3,125,000 62,500

$0.0125 1,600,000 20,000

$0.04 607,258 24,290

5,332,258 106,790

Settlement in lieu of services

30-Jun-14

Settlement in lieu of services

Settlement in lieu of services
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In the directors' opinion: 

 

●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;  

   

●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 

   

●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 
June 2015 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

   

●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable. 

   

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

On behalf of the directors 

 

 
___________________________ 
Andrew Chapman 
Non-Executive Director 
  

25 September 2015 

Perth 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Voyager Global Group Limited 

(“the Company”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2015, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising 

a summary of accounting policies, other explanatory information and the directors’ 

declaration. 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 

the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2, the 

directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standards AASB 101: Presentation 

of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing 

Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 

engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Company’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 



 
 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

In our opinion: 

 

a. The financial report of Voyager Global Group Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 

b. The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 2. 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial report which indicates that the 

Company incurred a loss of $720,216.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate 

the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Company to 

continue as a going concern and whether it will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal 

course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2015.  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 

in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Voyager Global Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

  

BENTLEYS MARK DELAURENTIS CA 

Chartered Accountants Director 

 

 

Dated at Perth this 25
th

 day of September 2015 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 17 September 2015. 

 

Distribution of equitable securities 

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 

 FULLY PAID SHARES 

 No. of holders  Securities 

           1 to     1,000 729 96,749 

    1,001 to     5,000 85 174,487 

    5,001 to   10,000 13 95,888 

  10,001 to 100,000 57 2,493,660 

100,001 and over 46 16,106,081 

 -   930 18,966,865 

   

Holding less than a marketable parcel   -   -  

 

Equity security holders 

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 

 Ordinary shares 

  % of total 

 Number shares 

 held issued 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 1,583,875 8.35 

AJAVA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,458,765 7.69 

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <MOF A/C> 1,322,353 6.97 

GEMELLI NOMINEES PTY LTD <GEMELLI FAMILY A/C> 1,000,000 5.27 

MR JOHN ANDREW RODGERS <JOHN RODGERS FAMILY A/C> 1,000,000 5.27 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED <DB A/C> 961,335 5.07 

PROVENCAL HOLDINGS (WA) PTY LTD <PROVENCAL A/C> 875,000 4.61 

MR COLIN ALEXANDER MACKELLAR + MRS MICHELE ELIZABETH MACKELLAR  
<CA MACKELLAR SUPER FUND A/C> 550,000 2.90 

MS LORAINE VON DER WEID-DE WECK 512,500 2.70 

MR PETER COOK <PETER COOK A/C> 500,000 2.64 

MR IAN MICHAEL PATERSON PARKER + MRS CATRIONA SYLVIA PARKER 
<PARKER SUPER FUND A/C> 416,667 2.20 

SABRELINE PTY LTD <JPR INVESTMENT A/C> 375,000 1.98 

BLIGH PARTNERSHIP PTY LTD <EFILEVEROF PSF A/C> 333,334 1.76 

PAN AUSTRALIAN NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 312,599 1.65 

MR KEVIN THOMAS MAHON <THE MAHON FAMILY A/C> 287,500 1.52 

MR ROBERT REGINALD FISHER + MRS LYNETTE GLADYS FISHER  
<CAPRICE SUPER FUND A/C> 263,554 1.39 

DOZEMEI PTY LTD <LA REPUBBLICA VENEXIANA A/C> 250,000 1.32 

GELC PTY LTD <MORRIS SUPER FUND A/C> 239,376 1.26 

LESSAR PTY LTD <THE RODNEY SHEA FAMILY A/C> 211,250 1.11 

CRANLEY CONSULTING PTY LTD <CRANLEY CONSULTING A/C> 207,002 1.09 

  12,660,110 66.75 
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Substantial holders 

Substantial holders in the company are set out below: 

 Ordinary Shares 

 Number % of total 

 held shares issued 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 1,583,875 8.35 

AJAVA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,458,765 7.69 

THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <MOF A/C> 1,322,353 6.97 

GEMELLI NOMINEES PTY LTD <GEMELLI FAMILY A/C> 1,000,000 5.27 

MR JOHN ANDREW RODGERS <JOHN RODGERS FAMILY A/C> 1,000,000 5.27 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED <DB A/C> 961,335 5.07 

 
 
Voting rights 

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 
 
Ordinary shares 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. 
 
There are no other classes of equity securities. 
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This Corporate Governance summary discloses the extent to which the Company will follow the recommendations set by the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council in its publication Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition) 
(Recommendations). The Recommendations are not mandatory, however the Recommendations that will not be followed have 
been identified and reasons have been provided for not following them. 
 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Plan has been posted on the Company’s website at www.voyagerglobal.com.au.   
 
 

PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY 
(YES/NO) 

EXPLANATION 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

Recommendation 1.1  

A listed entity should have and disclose a charter 
which sets out the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the board, the chair and 
management; and includes a description of those 
matters expressly reserved to the board and 
those delegated to management. 

 
YES 

 
The Company has adopted a Board Charter.  
The Board Charter (schedule 1 of Voyager Global’ s 
Corporate Governance Plan) sets out the specific 
responsibilities of the Board, requirements as to the 
Boards composition, the roles and responsibilities of the 
Chairman and Company Secretary, the establishment, 
operation and management of Board Committees, 
Directors access to company records and information, 
details of the Board’s relationship with management, 
details of the Board’s performance review and details of 
the Board’s disclosure policy.  
A copy of the Company’s Board Charter is available on 
the Company’s website. 

Recommendation 1.2 

A listed entity should: 
(a) undertake appropriate checks before 

appointing a person, or putting forward to 
security holders a candidate for election, as 
a director; and 
 

(b) provide security holders with all material 
information relevant to a decision on whether 
or not to elect or re-elect a director. 

 
 

YES 

 
 

(a) The Company has detailed guidelines for the 
appointment and selection of the Board. The 
Nomination Committee Charter requires the 
Committee, and in this case the board as no 
Committee currently exists due to the size of the 
Company, to undertake appropriate checks before 
appointing a person, or putting forward to security 
holders a candidate for election, as a director. 

(b) All material information relevant to a decision on 
whether or not to elect or re-elect a Director will be 
provided to security holders in a Notice of Meeting 
pursuant to which the resolution to elect or re-elect a 
Director will be voted on.  

Recommendation 1.3 

A listed entity should have a written agreement 
with each director and senior executive setting 
out the terms of their appointment. 

 
YES 

 
The Nomination Committee Charter requires the 
Committee, and in this case the board, as no Committee 
currently exists due to the size of the Company, to ensure 
that each director and senior executive is a party to a 
written agreement with the Company which sets out the 
terms of that Director’s or senior executive’s appointment.  
The Company has entered into Letters of Appointment 
with each Non-Executive Director. 

Recommendation 1.4 

The company secretary of a listed entity should 
be accountable directly to the board, through the 
chair, on all matters to do with the proper 
functioning of the board. 

 

YES 

 
The Board Charter outlines the roles, responsibility and 
accountability of the Company Secretary. The Company 
Secretary is accountable directly to the board, through the 
chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of 
the Board.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.voyagerglobal.com.au/
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Recommendation 1.5 

A listed entity should: 
(a) have a diversity policy which includes 

requirements for the board: 
(i) to set measurable objectives for achieving 

gender diversity; and 
(ii) to assess annually both the objectives 

and the entity’s progress in achieving 
them; 

 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary or it; and 
 

(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting 
period: 
(i) the measurable objectives for achieving 

gender diversity set by the board in 
accordance with the entity’s diversity 
policy and its progress towards 
achieving them; and 

(ii) either: 
(A) the respective proportions of men and 

women on the board, in senior 
executive positions and across the 
whole organisation (including how the 
entity has defined “senior executive” 
for these purposes); or 

(B) the entity’s “Gender Equality 
Indicators”, as defined in the 
Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012. 

 
YES 

 
 

(a) The Company has adopted a Diversity Policy (Schedule 
10 of Voyager Global’ s Corporate Governance Plan) 
(i) The Diversity Policy provides a framework for the 

Company to achieve a list of measurable objectives 
that encompass gender equality.  

(ii) The Diversity Policy provides for the monitoring and 
evaluation of the scope and currency of the Diversity 
Policy. The company is responsible for 
implementing, monitoring and reporting on the 
measurable objectives.    
 

(b) The Diversity Policy is available on the company website.  
 

(i) The measurable objectives set by the board will be 
included in the annual key performance indicators for 
the CEO, MD and senior executives. In addition the 
board will review progress against the objectives in 
its annual performance assessment.  

(ii)  
(A) The board will include in the annual report each 

year, the measurable objectives, progress 
against the objectives, and the proportion of 
male and female employees in the whole 
organisation, at senior management level and 
at Board Level. There are no female employees 
at senior management or in the whole 
organisation. 

Recommendation 1.6  

A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 

evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors; and 
 

(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, 
whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in 
accordance with that process. 

 
YES 

(a) As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have a Nomination Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism than 
the full Board for focusing the Company on specific issues. 
The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are 
currently carried out by the board and evaluating the 
performance of the Board, any committees and individual 
directors on an annual basis. The Board may do so with 
the aid of an independent advisor. The process for this can 
be found in Schedule 6 of the Company’s Corporate 
Governance Plan. 
 

(b) The Company has established the Nomination Committee 
Charter, which requires disclosure as to whether or not 
performance evaluations were conducted during the 
relevant reporting period. During June 2015, over a series 
of informal discussions, the Chairman reviewed each 
director. All directors’ performances met performance 
criteria.  

Recommendation 1.7 

A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 

evaluating the performance of its senior 
executives; and 
 

(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, 
whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in 
accordance with that process.  

 
YES 

(a) As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have a Remuneration Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism than 
the full Board for focusing the Company on specific issues. 
The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are 
currently carried out by the board, which includes 
evaluating the performance of senior executives. The 
Board is to arrange an annual performance evaluation of 
the senior executives, and may do so with the aid of an 
independent advisor. 
 

(b) The Company has established the Remuneration 
Committee Charter, which requires an annual 
performance of the senior executives. Schedule 6 
“Performance Evaluation” requires disclosure as to 
whether or not performance evaluations were conducted 
during the relevant reporting period. During June 2015, 
over a series of informal discussions, the Chairman 
reviewed each senior executive. All senior executives’ 
performances met performance criteria.  
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Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 

Recommendation 2.1  

The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, a 
majority of whom are independent 
directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent 
director, 

and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the members of the committee; and 
(v) as at the end of each reporting 

period, the number of times the 
committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings; or 

 

(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs to address board succession 
issues and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience, 
independence and knowledge of the entity 
to enable it to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively. 

 
NO 

(a) As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have a Nomination Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism than 
the full Board for focusing the Company on specific issues. 
The responsibilities of a Nomination Committee are 
currently carried out by the board. 

(b)  The Company has adopted the Nomination Committee 
Charter, which will be followed by the Nomination 
Committee once it has been established. The Charter 
provides that the Committee: 

(i)  shall comprise of at least three (3) non-executive 
directors, the majority of whom are independent. ; and  

(ii) the Committee Chairman is to be an independent 
Director.  

(iii) The Nomination Committee Charter is available online; 
(iv) The Board Charter provides for the disclosure of the 

members of each Committee. Details of the members 
of each Committee are provided in Annual Report; and 

(v) The Board Charter requires each Committee in relation 
to the reporting period relevant to that Committee, to 
disclose the number of times that Committee met 
throughout the period, and the individual attendances 
of the members at those Committee meetings. Details 
of the attendance of Committee meetings will be 
provided in the Company’s Annual Report. 

Recommendation 2.2 

A listed entity should have and disclose a 
board skill matrix setting out the mix of skills 
and diversity that the board currently has or is 
looking to achieve in its membership. 

 
YES 

As the Company does not have a Nomination Committee, the 
Board with the assistance of an independent advisor, if required, 
are required to prepare a Board skill matrix setting out the mix 
of skills and diversity that the Board currently has (or is looking 
to achieve). The composition of the board is to be reviewed 
regularly against the Company’s Board skills matrix to ensure 
the appropriate mix of skills and expertise is present to facilitate 
successful strategic direction.  

 

Number of 
Directors that 
meet the skill 

Executive and Non-Executive experience 3 

Industry experience and knowledge 3 

Leadership 3 

Corporate governance and Risk Management 3 

Strategic thinking 3 

Desired behavioural competencies 3 

Geographic experience 2 

Capital Markets experience 3 

  

Subject matter expertise  

- accounting 1 

- capital management 3 

- corporate financing 3 

- industry taxation 0 

- risk management 3 

- legal 0 

- IT expertise 0 
 

As can be seen the main areas identified are well represented 
by the Directors. With regards to Industry taxation and IT 
expertise there is a known skills shortage however these skills 
have been successfully outsourced to experienced consultants 
in the market, to the point where the Board is comfortable they 
are being met. The Board review the skills matrix annually. 
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Recommendation 2.3 
A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the names of the directors considered by 
the board to be independent directors; 
 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, 
association or relationship of the type 
described in Box 2.3 of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and 
Recommendation (3rd Edition), but the 
board is of the opinion that it does not 
compromise the independence of the 
director, the nature of the interest, position, 
association or relationship in question and 
an explanation of why the board is of that 
opinion; and 
 

(c) the length of service of each director 

 
 

YES 

(a) The Board Charter provides for the disclosure of the 
names of Directors considered by the board to be 
independent. Currently two members of the Board are 
considered independent, being Roderick Corps and Gary 
Roper;  

 
(b) The Board Charter requires Directors to disclose their 

interest, positions, associations and relationships and 
requires that the independence of Directors is regularly 
assessed by the board in light of the interests disclosed 
by Directors. Details of the Directors interests, positions 
associations and relationships are provided in the Annual 
Report; and  
  

(c) The Board Charter provides for the determination of the 
Directors’ terms and requires the length of service of each 
Director to be disclosed. 

 
(d) The Board of Voyager Global Group Limited consists of: 

 

Name Term in Office 

Andrew Chapman Since 8 October 2012 

Rod Corps Since 24 December 2013 

Gary Roper Since 24 December 2013. 
 

Recommendation 2.4 

A majority of the board of a listed entity should 
be independent directors. 

 
YES 

The Board Charter requires that where practical the majority 
of the Board will be independent.  

 

Currently the Board has two of the three directors being 
independent. They are Roderick Corps and Gary Roper. 

 

Details of each Director’s independence are provided in the 
Annual Report. 

Recommendation 2.5 

The chair of the board of a listed entity should 
be an independent director and, in particular, 
should not be the same person as the CEO of 
the entity. 

YES 

The Board Charter provides that where practical, the 
Chairman of the Board will be a non-executive director. If the 
Chairman ceases to be independent then the Board will 
consider appointing a lead independent Director. 
Mr Gary Roper who is a non-executive and independent 
director fulfils the responsibilities of Chairman. 
 

Recommendation 2.6 

A listed entity should have a program for 
inducting new directors and providing 
appropriate professional development 
opportunities for continuing directors to 
develop and maintain the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role as a director 
effectively. 

 
YES 

The Board Charter states that a specific responsibility of the 
Board is to procure appropriate professional development 
opportunities for Directors. As the Company does not have a 
Remuneration Committee, the board is responsible for the 
approval and review of induction and continuing professional 
development programs and procedures for Directors to ensure 
that they can effectively discharge their responsibilities.   

Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly 

Recommendation 3.1  

A listed entity should: 
(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, 

senior executives and employees; and 
 

(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

 
YES 

(a) The Corporate Code of Conduct (Schedule 2 of Voyager 
Global’s Corporate Governance Plan) applies to the 
Company’s directors, senior executives and employees. 
 

(b) The Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct is available 
on the Company’s website.   
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Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

Recommendation 4.1  

The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have an audit committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, all of 
whom are non-executive directors 
and a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent 
director, who is not the chair of the 
board, 

and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the relevant qualifications and 

experience of the members of the 
committee; and 

(v) in relation to each reporting period, 
the number of times the committee 
met throughout the period and the 
individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings; or 

 
(b) if it does not have an audit committee, 

disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs that independently verify and 
safeguard the integrity of its financial 
reporting, including the processes for the 
appointment and removal of the external 
auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner. 

 
NO 

(a) As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have an Audit and Risk Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism 
than the full Board for focusing the Company on specific 
issues. The responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee are currently carried out by the board. 

 
The Company has adopted the Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter, which will be followed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee once it has been established. The Charter 
provides that: 

(i) The Audit and Risk Committee must have at least 
three (3) members, all of whom are non-executive 
directors, with a majority being independent; and 

(ii) The Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee must 
not be Chairman of the Board and must also be 
independent; 

(iii) The Audit and Risk Committee Charter will be made 
available on the Company website; 

(iv) The Board Charter requires the relevant 
qualifications and experience of all members to be 
disclosed. The Audit and Risk Committee Charter 
also outlines the requisite skills and experience in 
order to secure a position on the Audit and Risk 
Committee. Details of the qualifications and 
experience of Directors is provided in the Annual 
Report. 

(v) The Board Charter requires each Committee in 
relation to the reporting period relevant to that 
Committee, to disclose the number of times that 
Committee met throughout the period, and the 
individual attendances of the members at those 
Committee meetings. Details of the Committee 
meetings will be provided in the Company’s Annual 
Report. 

Recommendation 4.2 

The board of a listed entity should, before it 
approves the entity’s financial statements for a 
financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO 
a declaration that the financial records of the 
entity have been properly maintained and that 
the financial statements comply with the 
appropriate accounting standards and give a 
true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the entity and that the opinion 
has been formed on the basis of a sound 
system of risk management and internal control 
which is operating effectively. 

 
YES 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter states that a duty and 
responsibility of the Committee, and as the Company does not 
have a Committee, the board, is to ensure that before the 
Board approves the entity’s financial statements for a financial 
period, the CEO and CFO have declared that in their opinion 
the financial records of the entity have been properly 
maintained and that the financial statements comply with the 
appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view 
of the financial position and performance of the entity and that 
the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system 
of risk management and internal control which is operating 
effectively. 

Recommendation 4.3 

A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure 
that its external auditor attends its AGM and is 
available to answer questions from security 
holders relevant to the audit. 

 
YES 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter provides that the 
Committee, and as the Company does not have a Committee, 
the board, must ensure the Company’s external auditor 
attends its AGM and is available to answer questions from 
security holders relevant to the audit. 

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Recommendation 5.1  

A listed entity should: 
(a) have a written policy for complying with its 

continuous disclosure obligations under 
the Listing Rules; and 
 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

 
YES 

(a) The Board Charter provides details of the Company’s 
disclosure policy. In addition, Schedule 7 of the Corporate 
Governance Plan is entitled ‘Disclosure-Continuous 
Disclosure’ and details the Company’s disclosure 
requirements as required by the ASX Listing Rules and 
other relevant legislation.  
 

(b) The Board Charter and Schedule 7 of the Corporate 
Governance Plan are available on the Company website.  
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Principle 6: Respect the rights of security holders 

Recommendation 6.1  

A listed entity should provide information about 
itself and its governance to investors via its 
website. 

 
YES 

Information about the Company and its governance is 
available in the Corporate Governance Plan which can be 
found on the Company’s website. 

Recommendation 6.2  

A listed entity should design and implement an 
investor relations program to facilitate effective 
two-way communication with investors. 

 
YES 

The Company has adopted a Shareholder Communications 
Strategy which aims to promote and facilitate effective two-
way communication with investors. The Strategy outlines a 
range of ways in which information is communicated to 
shareholders. The Shareholder Communications Strategy can 
be found on the Voyager website in the Corporate 
Governance plan under schedule 11. 

Recommendation 6.3  

A listed entity should disclose the policies and 
processes it has in place to facilitate and 
encourage participation at meetings of security 
holders. 

 
YES 

The Shareholder Communication Strategy, which can be 
found in schedule 11 of the Corporate Governance plan on 
Voyager’s website, states that as a part of the Company’s 
developing investor relations program, Shareholders can 
register with the Company Secretary to receive email 
notifications of when an announcement is made by the 
Company to the ASX, including the release of the Annual 
Report, half yearly reports and quarterly reports.  Links are 
made available to the Company’s website on which all 
information provided to the ASX is immediately posted. 

Shareholders are encouraged to participate at all EGMs and 
AGMs of the Company. Upon the despatch of any notice of 
meeting to Shareholders, the Company Secretary shall send 
out material with that notice of meeting stating that all 
Shareholders are encouraged to participate at the meeting. 

Recommendation 6.4 

A listed entity should give security holders the 
option to receive communications from, and 
send communications to, the entity and its 
security registry electronically. 

 
YES 

Security holders can register with the Company to receive 
email notifications when an announcement is made by the 
Company to the ASX. 
Shareholders queries should be referred to the Company 
Secretary at first instance. 

Principle 7:  Recognise and manage risk 

Recommendation 7.1  

The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a committee or committees to 
oversee risk, each of which: 
(i) has at least three members, a 

majority of whom are independent 
directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent 
director, 

and disclose: 

 

(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the members of the committee; and 
(v) as at the end of each reporting 

period, the number of times the 
committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings; or 

 
(b) if it does not have a risk committee or 

committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose 
that fact and the process it employs for 
overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework.  

 
NO 

(a) The Board is charged with the responsibility of 
determining the Company’s risk profile and is responsible 
for overseeing and approving risk management strategy 
and policies.  

As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have an Audit and Risk Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism than the 
full Board for focusing the Company on specific issues. The 
responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee are currently 
carried out by the board.  
The Company has adopted the Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter, which will be followed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee once it has been established.  
(i) The Audit and Risk Committee Charter states that the 

majority of the Committee must be independent where 
practical. The Audit and Risk Committee must comprise 
of at least three (3) members, all being non-executive 
directors and a majority being independent; 

(ii)  The Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee must 
not be the Chairman of the Board and must be 
independent.  

(iii) The Audit and Risk Committee Charter is available 
online at the Company’s website. 

(iv) The Board Charter requires disclosure of the members 
of the Committee. Details of the current members are 
provided in the Annual Report.  

(v) The Board Charter requires each Committee in relation 
to the reporting period relevant to that Committee, to 
disclose the number of times each Committee met 
throughout the period and the individual attendances of 
the members at those Committee meetings. The 
relevant details of each Committee meeting held will be 
provided in the Company’s Annual Report. 
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Recommendation 7.2 

The board or a committee of the board should: 
(a) review the entity’s risk management 

framework with management at least 
annually to satisfy itself that it continues to 
be sound, to determine whether there have 
been any changes in the material business 
risks the entity faces and to ensure that 
they remain within the risk appetite set by 
the board; and 
 

(b) disclose in relation to each reporting 
period, whether such a review has taken 
place. 

 
YES 

(a) The Company process for risk management and internal 
compliance includes a requirement to identify and 
measure risk, monitor the environment for emerging 
factors and trends that affect these risks, formulate risk 
management strategies and monitor the performance of 
risk management systems. Schedule 8 of the Corporate 
Governance Plan, which can be found on Voyager’s 
website, is entitled ‘Disclosure - Risk Management’ and 
details the Company’s disclosure requirements with 
respect to the risk management review procedure and 
internal compliance and controls. 

 
(b) The Board Charter requires (once each Committee has 

been established) in relation to the reporting period 
relevant to that Committee, to disclose the number of 
times that Committee met throughout the period, and the 
individual attendances of the members at those 
Committee meetings. Details of the Committee meetings 
will be provided in the Company’s Annual Report. 

 

Recommendation 7.3 

A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the 

function is structured and what role it 
performs; or 
 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, 
that fact and the processes it employs for 
evaluating and continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk management and 
internal control processes. 

 
YES 

 
The Audit and Risk Committee Charter provides for the 
internal audit function of the Company. The Charter outlines 
the monitoring, review and assessment of a range of internal 
audit functions and procedures.  
Given the size of the Company, no internal audit function is 
currently considered necessary. The Company’s 
Management periodically undertakes an internal review of 
financial systems and processes and where systems are 
considered to require improvement these systems are 
developed. The Board also considers external reviews of 
specific areas and monitors the implementation of system 
improvements. 
 

Recommendation 7.4 

A listed entity should disclose whether, and if 
so how, it has regard to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks 
and, if it does, how it manages or intends to 
manage those risks. 

 
YES 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter details the Company’s 
risk management systems which assist in identifying and 
managing potential or apparent business, economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks (if appropriate). 
Review of the Company’s risk management framework is 
conducted at least annually and reports are continually 
created by management on the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the Company’s risk management framework and associated 
internal compliance and control procedures.  
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Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Recommendation 8.1 

The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a remuneration committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, a 
majority of whom are independent 
directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent 
director, 

and disclose: 

(iii) the charter of the committee; 
(iv) the members of the committee; and 
(v) as at the end of each reporting 

period, the number of times the 
committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings; or 

 
(b) if it does not have a remuneration 

committee, disclose that fact and the 
processes it employs for setting the level 
and composition of remuneration for 
directors and senior executives and 
ensuring that such remuneration is 
appropriate and not excessive. 

 
NO 

(a) As the Board only consists of three (3) members, the 
Company does not have a Remuneration Committee 
because it would not be a more efficient mechanism than 
the full Board for focusing the Company on specific 
issues. The responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee are currently carried out by the board, with the 
aid of an independent advisor, if required, which includes 
evaluating the performance of senior executives.  

 

(b) The Company has adopted The Remuneration 
Committee Charter, which will be followed by the 
Remuneration Committee once it has been established. 
The Remuneration Committee Charter outlines the roles 
and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee and 
provides that: 
(i) The Remuneration Committee comprises of at least 

three (3) Directors, the majority of whom are 
independent non-executive Directors; 

(ii) The Remuneration Committee must be chaired by an 
independent Director who is appointed by the Board. 

(iii) The Remuneration Committee Charter is available 
on the Company website; 

(iv) The Board Charter requires disclosure of the 
members of the Committee. Details of the current 
members are provided in the Annual Report; 

(v) The Board Charter requires each Committee in 
relation to the reporting period relevant to that 
Committee, to disclose the number of times that 
Committee met throughout the period, and the 
individual attendances of the members at those 
Committee meetings. Details of the Committee 
meetings will be provided in the Company’s Annual 
Report. 

Recommendation 8.2 

A listed entity should separately disclose its 
policies and practices regarding the 
remuneration of non-executive directors and 
the remuneration of executive directors and 
other senior executives and ensure that the 
different roles and responsibilities of non-
executive directors compared to executive 
directors and other senior executives are 
reflected in the level and composition of their 
remuneration. 

 
YES 

 
The Remuneration Committee Charter requires the Company 
to disclose its policies and practices regarding the 
remuneration of non-executive, executive and other senior 
directors. 

Recommendation 8.3 

A listed entity which has an equity-based 
remuneration scheme should: 
(a) have a policy on whether participants are 

permitted to enter into transactions 
(whether through the use of derivatives or 
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

 
YES 

(a) The Remuneration Committee Charter is required to 
review, manage and disclose the policy (if any) on 
whether participants are permitted to enter into 
transactions (whether through the use of derivatives or 
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in 
the scheme. The Remuneration Committee Charter 
states that the Remuneration Committee, and in this case 
the Board, as no Remuneration Committee currently 
exists, must review and approve any equity based plans. 

(b) A copy of the Remuneration Committee Charter is 
available on the Company’s website.  

 


